RECEIVED 12-17-2014

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

RALPH SASSON,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

RYAN BRAUN, ONESIMO BALELO and CREATIVE ARTISTS AGENCY, LLC.,

Defendants-Respondents,

DOES 1-50 Inclusive,

Defendant

Appeal No: 2014AP001707

Circuit Court Case No.: 13-CV-007014

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. NATURE OF THE CASE

On July 31, 2013 Plaintiff-Appellant Ralph Sasson ("Sasson") filed a lawsuit against Defendant-Respondent Ryan Braun ("Braun") for slander, libel, intentional and negligent infliction of emotional distress, and fraudulent misrepresentation. (R.1) On August 22, 2013 Sasson filed an Amended Complaint adding claims against Braun for breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, fraudulent inducement, and quantum meruit. Sasson also added Onesimo Balelo ("Balelo") and Creative Artists Agency (the "Agency") (collectively "CAA") as defendants and sought redress for fraudulent misrepresentation, fraudulent inducement, and negligence. (R.6)

This appeal derives from the entire June 11, 2014 Opinion and Order ("dismissal order"), as well as the August 11, 2014 Post-judgment Order (Aug. 11 Order) of the Milwaukee County Circuit Court (the "court"), the Honorable Paul Van Grunsven presiding. In the dismissal order, the trial court dismissed Sasson's entire case, with prejudice, as a sanction for purported violations of court orders, misuse of the legal process, want of prosecution/non-compliance with discovery orders, lack of professionalism, and unsubstantiated

allegations. (R.170; A-App.101-116) On August 1, 2014 the court summarily denied Sasson's Wis. Stat. §806.07 motions to vacate the seal order and relief from judgment. (R.249, 10:5-17:2; A-App.118-125) Subsequent to Sasson's submission of two separate objections to the proposed order's language (R.216, R.217) – which were ignored – a written order reflecting the court's decision was signed on August 11, 2014. (R.221; A-App.126-27)

II. FACTS OF THE CASE

On November 3, 2011, Sasson, a law student and close friend of Braun for over 15 years, received a call from Balelo, Braun's agent, explaining that a colleague's client, who was a professional baseball player, had tested positive for steroids. (R.6, ¶17) Balelo requested Sasson's help with researching the matter for the purpose of assisting in the player's defense against imposition of administrative discipline in a forthcoming arbitral proceeding with Major League Baseball ("MLB"). Balelo offered Sasson \$2,000 for his initial brief and an additional \$5,000 contingent upon the player's exoneration. (R.6, ¶18)

Sasson agreed to the foregoing terms and on November 8, 2011, completed a memo citing scientific, legal, and procedural reasons for the player's exoneration. (R.6, ¶¶19, 21) Prior to completing this memo, Balelo emailed Sasson the player's lab report

and two confidential arbitration opinions emanating from from violations of MLB's Joint Drug Prevention Program by Major League Baseball Players Association ("MLBPA") union members Rafael Palmeiro and Ryan Franklin. (R.53-Ex.A, ¶9; A-App.133-37)

On November 11, 2011, Braun contacted Sasson and confirmed that he was the player who had tested positive for the banned substance. (R.6, ¶23) On November 18, 2011, Sasson was compensated for his services with a check in the amount of \$2,050. (R.6, ¶27) In February 2012, Braun was exonerated of any wrongdoing relating to his failed drug test. (R.6, ¶33) Despite satisfaction of the condition precedent of \$5,000, Sasson did not receive payment as promised. (R.6, ¶35) Sasson was eventually able to reach Balelo in May 2012 and inquired about the \$5,000 owed. (R.6, ¶36) Balelo responded that Sasson would not be paid the \$5,000 since Braun had already spent over \$200,000 in legal fees and Sasson was not as involved in the project as initially expected. (*Id.*)

After his requests for payment were further rebuffed by both Braun and Balelo, Sasson mailed Balelo a draft complaint naming Braun, Balelo, and the Agency as defendants. (R.6, ¶51-52) After receiving the complaint, Balelo explained that Sasson would receive the \$5,166.75 owed to him as long as Sasson agreed to draft and sign

an agreement ("the Release") releasing all claims against Respondents. (R.6, ¶¶53-54) Balelo demanded that the terms of the Release include a provision that Sasson would not disseminate any documents related to his participation in Braun's defense and that no party would make disparaging comments about the other. (R.6, ¶55-56) Sasson drafted the Release and promised to destroy all documents related to his assistance in Braun's arbitration. (R.6, ¶60, 32-35; A-App.138-140) Sasson also inserted a liquidated damages clause which would compensate Respondents for any expected losses should Sasson disseminate these documents. (R.6-Ex.A) When Sasson inquired who would act as a signatory for the Agency so that he could insert their name into the contract, Balelo told Sasson that he had the authority to sign on behalf of both Braun and the Agency. (R.6, ¶184)

Almost immediately after the document was signed and Sasson was compensated, Braun engaged in making false and defamatory statements about Sasson, thereby breaching the Release. (R.6, ¶67) On July 23, 2013, Sasson's long-standing suspicions concerning Braun's breach were ultimately verified. (R.6, ¶98) On July 24 Sasson contacted Balelo to set up a meeting with Braun and warned Balelo that if Braun was not amenable to meeting with Sasson, Sasson would seek legal redress. At this point, Balelo

informed Sasson that he did not have the authority to sign the Release on the Agency's behalf and that the Agency did not know about the Release. (R.6, ¶190; R.31-Ex.A; A-App.141-145)

Subsequent to being informed that Balelo fraudulently misrepresented his authority to sign on the Agency's behalf, Sasson attempted, for over a month, to meet with the Agency and have the Release ratified. (R.98-Ex.E, 305:12-25) The Agency refused. (R.31-Ex.A) Sasson then amended his original complaint and added Balelo and the Agency as defendants.

III. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

When filing his original complaint against Braun, Sasson unknowingly violated Milwaukee L.R. 1.11 by concurrently filing his discovery requests with the court on July 31 and Oct. 8, 2013. (R.2-4, R.13-21) On Oct. 25, the court conducted a telephonic hearing to set a briefing schedule on Respondents' motions to dismiss and motion to stay discovery. During this hearing, Sasson was made aware of his violation of L.R. 1.11. Since this time, Sasson has fully complied with L.R. 1.11. On Nov. 21 the court granted a motion to stay discovery filed by CAA and postponed discovery until after ruling on the motions to dismiss. (R.50)

On Dec. 20 the court heard oral argument on the motions to dismiss wherein it directed inquiry at Sasson concerning whether he

possesses evidence supporting the publication element of his libel claim. Sasson responded "I have no proof of that." (R.238, 39:4-8; A-App.147). Later in the hearing, the court again asked Sasson about whether he was aware of any libelous writings authored by Braun. Sasson responded "I'm unaware of it, but I believe there are...Considering today's society and the way that people communicate via text message and things of that nature." (R.238, 47:15-48:6; A-App.148-49) On January 15, 2014 the court issued a ruling dismissing 7 of Sasson's 12 claims. The surviving claims were fraudulent misrepresentation and inducement against CAA and negligent infliction, fraudulent misrepresentation, and libel against Braun. (R.52; A-App.150-155)

According to the court, Sasson's contract claims were dismissed because, (1)Sasson's own pleadings "could be read to support an allegation that he engaged in the unauthorized practice of law ("UPL") by rendering legal advice and performing legal work for compensation" (R.52-4; A-App.153) (emphasis added); (2)Sasson was not protected by SCR 23.02(2)(e), because "Sasson never participated in any labor negotiations, arbitrations or conciliations" (R.52-5; A-App.154) (emphasis in original); and (3)the language of SCR 23.02(2)(e) is not so broad as to allow

unlicensed legal work as long as it is merely <u>related</u> to an arbitration." (*Id.*) (emphasis in original)

In response to what Sasson believed to be the court's erroneous finding concerning the extent of his participation, Sasson filed a letter with the court on Jan.23 requesting it reconsider its decision. Attached to this letter was a copy of a check Balelo had sent to Sasson, as well as Sasson's own phone records demonstrating that over 900 minutes of phone conversation had taken place between Sasson, Braun, and Balelo from Nov.3, 2011 to Feb. 24, 2012. (R.53-Ex.C&E) These attachments were submitted as evidence to demonstrate the extent of Sasson's participation in Braun's arbitration. (R.53) The court informed the parties it would hold a hearing on Jan. 28 to address Sasson's letter.

The same day, Stephen Kravit ("Kravit"), attorney for CAA, sent a letter to the court which accused Sasson of filing the letter "to harass, annoy and oppress Defendants" and that Sasson's letter "improperly contain[ed] personal identifier information, which is not allowed in the public record." (R.54; A-App.156-57) After being informed that CAA took umbrage with the contents of his

¹ The attachments were Sasson's property and were not obtained through the mechanisms of discovery.

² Pursuant to Wis. Stat. §19.36(13), it is not the parties, but the court ("authority" as defined §19.32(1)) who is responsible for preventing public access to personal information.

letter, Sasson contacted clerk Nathan Wohner and instructed him to place the offending documents under seal. (R.176-Ex.4; A-App.162-65) Sasson also apologized to opposing counsel for his confusion. (*Id.*) Notwithstanding Sasson's corrective action, CAA, on Jan. 27, filed a motion pursuant to Wis. Stat. §805.03 requesting a protective order requiring Sasson to submit all of his future filings under seal (R.58, 1; R.59, 6; R.62, 1,; A-App.193; A-App.177; A-App.202), Again, despite Sasson's corrective action, CAA argued Sasson's letter was filed "for the purpose of harassing and embarrassing them." (R.59, 7; A-App.178) CAA further argued that Sasson's filing also violated attorney-client privilege. (R.59, 7-9; A-App.178-180); *but see*, (R.98-Ex.A, 266:1-20; A-App.182); *see also*, (R.186, 1-3, R.187-Ex.2, 102; A-App.183-192)

Even though the Jan. 28 hearing was scheduled to address Sasson's Jan. 23 letter, CAA noticed its Jan. 27 motion for a hearing on Jan. 28 "or at a later time to be set by the Court." (R.58, 1; A-App.193) As a result of inclement weather, the court was closed on Jan. 28. Thus, the hearing to address Sasson's letter was rescheduled for Jan. 29. Despite Sasson's lack of meaningful notice, the court took up and granted CAA's Jan. 27 motion less than 48 hours after it was filed. (R.240, 31:10-21; A-App.197) The court concurrently signed the proposed order accompanying the motion (the "gag-seal"

or "Jan. 29 Order"), which ordered that "all future filings by the Plaintiff Sasson shall be made under seal, directly with my clerk, and shall not be made public in any respect..." (R.62, 3; A-App.204) The written gag-seal order also states that the attachments to Sasson's Jan. 23 letter were filed for the purpose of "reveal[ing] communications protected by the attorney-client and/or work product privileges." (R.62, 2; A-App.203)

On March 17, Braun filed a motion compelling Sasson to properly respond to his discovery requests. (R.109) On April 4, the court granted Braun's motion and ordered that Sasson "provide meaningful responses to these discovery requests" and "not just give written answers, but to produce documents and other information that support your responses." (R.244, 27:23-25, 31:6-9; A-App.208-209) Sasson explicitly notified the court that he originally believed his responses were proper because they were identical in nature to Braun and CAA's responses and given his inexperience, Sasson was merely following their lead. (*Id.*, 21:17-22:10; A-App.206-07) Sasson also expressed his frustration with the hypocrisy of Braun's compel motion when Sasson's manner of responses were identical in nature to Braun's responses. To Sasson's shock, the court's reply to Sasson was that "You brought these claims against very high profile defendants." (*Id.*, 31:12-32:4; A-App.209-210)

A hearing to address the propriety of Sasson's responses was scheduled for May 6 and in the interim Sasson amended his responses to comport with the court's order. On April 30, and after getting nowhere in his meet and confer correspondence with Braun, Sasson filed a motion to compel of his own to force Braun to properly respond to Sasson's interrogatories. (R.128). Given the sheer volume of Braun's improper responses, Sasson needed to file 3 separate motions to compel lest he planned to submit one 50 page motion in one fell swoop. (R.128; 1-2)

Concurrently filed with Sasson's motion to compel was a letter to the court which included Sasson's amended responses. (R.132; A-App.211-12) Sasson filed this letter because James Barton ("Barton"), attorney for Braun, attempted to agitate Sasson by accusing him of being uncooperative despite Sasson having implored Barton to immediately inform him if any amended responses were inadequate. (*Id.*-Ex.B, 3; A-App.216) Instead of engaging cooperatively, Barton nonsensically characterizes Sasson's cooperation and intent to do right by the process as "tacitly admitting" that Sasson knew his responses were inadequate. (*Id.*-Ex.B; 6; A-App.219) Barton also refused to explain why Sasson's responses were inadequate because, according to Barton, such explanation would be "unnecessary and counterproductive." (*Id.*-explanation would be "unnecessary and counterproductive."

Ex.B, 7-8; A-App.220-21) After receiving Braun's supplemental motion to compel, Sasson, without being prompted to do so, filed 2nd Amended responses with the court as an attachment to his supplemental reply in opposition. Sasson desperately sought to not only remedy Braun's concerns, but to also demonstrate his good faith commitment to adhering to the court's order. (R.134-Ex.A)

On May 5, Sasson filed a motion to compel aimed at Balelo and a motion for commission to take the out-of-state deposition of David Prouty ("Prouty"), general counsel of MLBPA. (R.137; R.140) The next day, at the May 6 hearing, the court did not rule on Braun's motion to compel but instead, and despite Sasson's own motions to compel sitting in the court's queue, the court ordered as follows:

"I'm stating here for the record there will be no further discovery. There will be no further motion practice, nothing...I will further order that there will be no discovery, there will be no deposition of Braun until such time as I rule on this motion."

(R.245, 68:10-69:2; A-App.227-228)

On May 15, CAA filed a motion for contempt and sanctions and a motion to lift the stay for the purpose of addressing what CAA claimed to be Sasson's violation of the Jan.29 Order. (R.150) CAA argued that on May 7, Sasson violated the Jan.29 Order and a mythical seal order specific to the Balelo deposition by emailing Prouty and paraphrasing portions of the Balelo deposition. (R.150,

Order restricted Sasson's speech, and that CAA, *by its own admission*, acknowledged the seal's restrictions being limited to "distribution" of Sasson's filings (R.97, ¶9; A-App.230), CAA conveniently changed positions and suddenly characterized the seal as placing restrictions on Sasson's speech. CAA further argued that Sasson's email was solely intended to sully Balelo's reputation because Sasson's inquiry to Prouty had no relevance to his claims. (R.150, 11-12, 16)

Sasson responded that no gag order had been issued; that his email was not a violation of the seal; and further explained why his inquiry to Prouty was eminently relevant to each of his claims against Balelo and the Agency.³ (R.155) On May 29, Sasson filed a motion to vacate the seal order. Sasson argued that if the court had intended to place restrictions on his speech, such restrictions were improper because a seal order is not intended to restrict speech but to prevent public access to sealed filings. (R.162) Sasson concurrently filed a motion to shorten time. (R.165)

-

³ Sasson also explained why he never "mischaracterized" Balelo's testimony and how Sasson's paraphrasing of Balelo's testimony was reflective of the fact that, while Balelo denied remembering what documents were transmitted, whatever documents were transmitted, Michael Weiner assented to their transmission. (R.155, 12-15; A-App.233-36)

At the June 5 hearing, the court denied Sasson's motion to shorten time and refused to hear his motion to vacate – this despite granting CAA's motion to shorten time on two separate occasions. (R.246, 33:10-34:21; A-App.238-239) According to the court, the multibillion dollar agency and the 10 lawyer firm representing them did not have enough time (9 days) to respond to Sasson's motion seeking to reclaim his rights. Yet, somehow, the pro se law student was expected to respond, in less than 48 hours, to CAA's Jan. 27 motion which stripped Sasson of those rights.

On June 11, 2014, the court granted Respondents' motion for sanctions and dismissed Sasson's case for numerous instances of purported misconduct – including violating the Jan.29 Order by paraphrasing the Balelo deposition. (R.170) Subsequent to dismissal Sasson filed two Wis. Stat. §806.07 motions – one for relief from the dismissal order and the other to vacate the seal order. (R.175, R.186) On July 13, Sasson posted portions of his videotaped deposition on YouTube. CAA and Braun moved to have Sasson held in both criminal and civil contempt. (R.193; R.201, 4; A-App.246) On July 23, the court granted Respondents' motion for criminal contempt and referred the matter to the Milwaukee DA's Office. (R.209) Sasson was subsequently arrested outside the courtroom but released 2.5 hours later for lack of probable cause. On August 1, the court

summarily denied Sasson's post-judgment motions as well as a motion for recusal. A written order reflecting the court's August 1 ruling was signed on August 11. (R.221; A-App.126-27)

On August 22, Sasson was informed by the DA that he would not be charged with criminal contempt because, as the court explained at a September 30 hearing "the deposition that was put out on Youtube was not an item that was filed under seal, and technically there was no violation of the Court's seal order…" (R.250, 48:25-49:3; A-App.248-49)

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

§I: Whether the Jan.29 Order applied to discovery involves a question of law. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Piddington*, 2001 WI 24, ¶13, 241 Wis.2d 754, 623 N.W.2d 528. Additionally, because the language of the order can be readily established through documentary evidence, this court need not defer to the trial court's findings. *Cohn v. Town of Randall*, 2001 WI App 176, ¶7, 247 Wis.2d 118, 633 N.W.2d 674. §§II-III: Whether the facts in the record fulfill a constitutionally mandated standard is a question of law and subject to de novo review. *See*, *e.g.*, *Farrell v. John Deere Co.*, 151 Wis.2d 45, 62, 443 N.W.2d 50 (Ct. App. 1989)

§§IV-VII: "A discretionary determination, to be sustained, must demonstrably be made and based upon the facts appearing in the

record and in reliance on the appropriate and applicable law." Milwaukee Women's Med. Serv., Inc. v. Scheidler, 228 Wis.2d 514, 524, 598 N.W.2d 588 (Ct. App. 1999). "[A] discretionary determination must be the product of a rational mental process by which the facts of record and law relied upon are stated and are considered together for the purpose of achieving a reasoned and reasonable determination." Id. Additionally, whether a factual inference may be drawn, whether it is reasonable, and whether it is the only reasonable inference are all questions of law for the appellate court to decide. Groom v. Professionals Ins. Co., 179 Wis.2d 241, 249, 507 N.W.2d 121 (Ct. App. 1993) An erroneous exercise of discretion occurs when the circuit court (1) fails to consider and make a record of the relevant factors; (2) considers clearly irrelevant or improper factors; or (3) gives too much weight to one factor. See, Sunnyside Feed Co. v. City of Portage, 222 Wis. 2d 461, 471, 588 N.W.2d 278 (Ct. App. 1998). It may also occur when the circuit court makes an error of law. *Id.*, 471–72

ARGUMENT

I. BECAUSE THE JAN.29 ORDER WAS NOT INSTITUTED PURSUANT TO \$804.01(3), THE BALELO DEPOSITION WAS NOT UNDER SEAL

In order to obtain restrictions on discovery, Wis. Stat. \$804.01(3) requires the party or person from whom discovery is

sought to establish "good cause" for a protective order. Therefore, without a protective order covering materials obtained in discovery, such materials may be used by a party for any purpose, including dissemination to the public.

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