#### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

#### RECEIVED

01-16-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal Case No.: 2014AP001707

RALPH SASSON,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

RYAN BRAUN, ONESIMO BALELO and CREATIVE ARTISTS AGENCY, LLC,

Defendants-Respondents,

DOES 1-50, INCLUSIVE,

Defendant.

DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT RYAN BRAUN'S RESPONSE BRIEF

Appeal from Final Order Entered June 11, 2014 in Milwaukee County Circuit Court, Case No. 2013CV7014, Honorable Paul Van Grunsven Presiding

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

This Court reviews discovery orders for an erroneous exercise of discretion. Earl v. Gulf & W. Mfg. Co., 123 Wis. 2d 200, 204, 366 N.W.2d 160 (Ct. App. 1985). An appellant has the burden of establishing that the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion. Rademann v. State Dep't of Transp., 2002 WI App 59, ¶ 34, 252 Wis. 2d 191, 642 N.W.2d 600. A trial court "may make any order which justice requires to protect a party or person from annoyance, embarrassment, oppression or undue burden or expense in a discovery proceeding." Wis. Stat. § 804.01(3)(a). The issuance of a protective order in a discovery proceeding is within the trial court's sound discretion. State v. Beloit Concrete Stone Co., 103 Wis. 2d 506, 511, 309 N.W.2d 28 (Ct. App. 1981).

The Supreme Court has explicitly stated that "an order prohibiting dissemination of discovered information before trial is not the kind of classic prior restraint that requires exacting First Amendment scrutiny." *Seattle Times Co. v. Rhinehart*, 467 U.S. 20, 32-34 (1984). Pretrial discovery including depositions, interrogatories, and document productions "are not public

components of a civil trial, were not open to the public at common law, and in general, are conducted in private as a matter of modern practice." *Bond v. Utreras*, 585 F.3d 1061, 1074-75 (7th Cir. 2009) (quotations and citations omitted.)

Therefore, a protective order sealing the contents of a deposition and prohibiting the disclosure of this information is not viewed as a gag order. "In sum, judicial limitations on a party's ability to disseminate information discovered in advance of trial implicates the First Amendment rights of the restricted party to a far lesser extent than would restraints on dissemination of information in a different context." *Seattle Times*, 467 U.S. at 34. The discovery process requires that the trial court have "substantial latitude" because "the trial court is in the best position to weigh fairly the competing needs and interests of parties affected by discovery." *Id.* at 36.

B. Sasson's Assertions that the January 29 seal order did not apply to discovery and constituted a "gag order" are False and unsupported by the record.

Sasson argues that the January 29, 2014 Order: (a) did not apply to discovery; and (b) amounted to an unconstitutional prior restraint on his speech. (Sasson Br. at 15-20.) Each of these arguments is wrong and unsupported in the record.

At the January 29, 2014 hearing, the Circuit Court described its intention to keep discovery materials "non-discoverable or non-disclosable" and made clear that the intention of the protective order was to prevent Sasson from making these materials public documents with his filings. (R.240 at 19:18-19; R-App.165.) The court stated:

[I] don't know if it's incompetence or ingenuity, if it's his understanding that basically things that are exchanged in discovery are immune from release to the media and the public, that those that are filed with the Court become public records, but I think that given the record now before this Court, there needs to be some safeguards put in place [ ... ].

(*Id.* at 19:2-9; R-App.165.) Due to these concerns, the court granted the Agency Defendants' Motion for a Protective Order and ordered all filings sealed. Sasson indicated his understanding and agreement with the order at that time: "I'm following your rules. I don't want anything to get out. I have no problem with the ruling you just made, it's fine." (*Id.* at 34:24-35:2; R-App.172-173.)

Despite Sasson's new arguments, the January 29 Seal Order did not prohibit "all commentary" on Sasson's filings. To the contrary, all hearings were open to the public. The order did not place any restriction on Sasson's speech except that the sealed documents "shall not be made public." (R.62 at ¶ 4.) The

objective of the January 29 Seal Order was not to prevent or restrain any speech by the litigants, but was intended to prevent any additional discovery materials or documents containing other confidential information from being made public. Sasson understood the order's purpose and *invoked that order* in connection with Balelo's deposition:

MR. SASSON: Your Honor, you know, I was going to say before we started that pending review of the transcript, I think we're going to designate, at least for the time being, everything confidential material pursuant to the Court's request that we keep everything under seal.

THE COURT: The Court will order the deposition transcript sealed.

(See R.170 at 6; R-App.106.)

Thus, whether the January 29 Seal order was directly applicable to Balelo's deposition is immaterial because Sasson specifically requested that the Balelo deposition transcript be designated as "confidential material." (*Id.*) The Circuit Court then properly sealed the deposition transcript. (*Id.*)

"[F]or good cause shown, the court may make any order which justice requires to protect a party or person from annoyance, embarrassment, oppression or undue burden or expense in a discovery proceeding." Wis. Stat. § 804.01(3)(a). As discussed above, the court already found good cause to protect

documents from public disclosure due to Sasson's prior inappropriate filings. Sasson then requested Balelo's transcript to be placed under seal in accordance with the January 29 Seal Order. Accordingly the court was able to extend the reasoning of the January 29 Seal Order to specifically order the Balelo deposition sealed.

# III. SASSON IS PRECLUDED FROM RAISING ANY CONSTITUTIONAL OBJECTIONS REGARDING THE SCOPE AND EFFECT OF THE SEAL ORDERS.

This Court does not even need to engage in an analysis of Sasson's constitutional arguments related to the seal orders, because they are precluded under the principles of waiver and judicial estoppel.

#### A. WAIVER AND JUDICIAL ESTOPPEL.

"The party who raises an issue on appeal bears the burden of showing that the issue was raised before the Circuit Court." *State v. Huebner*, 2000 WI 59, ¶ 10, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727. A party who has been complicit in, or consented to, the unpreserved error is viewed with additional skepticism. *In re Ambac Assur. Corp.*, 2012 WI 22, ¶ 23, 339 Wis. 2d 48, 810 N.W.2d 450. "It is contrary to fundamental principles of justice and orderly procedure to permit a party to assume a certain

position in the course of litigation which may be advantageous, and then after the court maintains that position, argue on appeal that the action was error." *Id.* (citing *State v. Gove*, 148 Wis. 2d 936, 944, 437 N.W.2d 218 (1989)).

Similarly, the doctrine of judicial estoppel operates to prevent a litigant from maintaining inconsistent positions in legal proceedings and to "prevent litigants from playing 'fast and loose' with the courts." Olson v. Darlington Mut. Ins. Co., 2006 WI App 204, ¶ 4, 296 Wis. 2d 716, 723 N.W.2d 713 (citations omitted). "Where a party assumes a certain position in a legal proceeding, and succeeds in maintaining that position, he may not thereafter, simply because his interests have changed, assume a contrary position." Matter of Cassidy, 892 F.2d 637, 641 (7th Cir. 1990) (citing Davis v. Wakelee, 156 U.S. 680, 689 (1895)).

The three required elements of judicial estoppel are: (1) the later position must be clearly inconsistent with the earlier position; (2) the facts at issue should be the same in both cases; and (3) the party to be estopped must have convinced the first court to adopt its position." *State v. Petty*, 201 Wis. 2d 337, 348, 548 N.W.2d 817 (1996).

Inconsistent positions may be within the context of the same case, especially when a litigant maintains one position at the circuit court and an inconsistent position on appeal. See Harrison v. Labor & Indus. Review Comm'n, 187 Wis. 2d 491, 496-98, 523 N.W.2d 138 (Ct. App. 1994) ("[I]nstances where a defendant in a criminal case reverses positions on appeal most often fit these parameters since the facts are the same and it is easier to discern whether the positions are clearly inconsistent.").

### B. SASSON'S SEAL ORDER ARGUMENTS ARE WAIVED AND ESTOPPED BY HIS OWN CONDUCT.

Fundamental principles of justice require that either waiver or judicial estoppel operate to prevent Sasson's "fast and loose" approach to this litigation as demonstrated by his arguments concerning the January 29 and Balelo Seal Orders.

## 1. Sasson Waived the Right to Challenge the Constitutionality or Applicability of Any Seal Order.

Sasson, by his conduct and explicit statements to the Circuit Court, showed his agreement with, and understanding of, the January 29 Seal Order. In response to the court's ruling granting a protective order, Sasson stated "I'm following your rules. I don't want anything to get out. I have no problem with

the ruling you just made, it's fine." (R.240 at 34:24-35:2; R-App.172-173.)

At the outset of Balelo's deposition, Sasson then invoked the January 29 Seal Order in his request to designate the Balelo deposition as "confidential material." (See R.170 at 6; R-App.106.) This designation led the Circuit Court to order "the deposition transcript sealed." (Id.) This exchange demonstrates that Sasson was aware of, and in agreement with, the application of the January 29 Seal Order to discovery materials. (See id.)

Sasson caused the Circuit Court and the parties to believe that the Balelo deposition would be sealed and maintained as confidential. (*Id.*) This constitutes a clear case of waiver. *Cf. In re Ambac Assur. Corp.*, 2012 WI 22 at ¶ 23; *see also Post v. Schwall*, 157 Wis. 2d 652, 657, 460 N.W.2d 794 (Ct. App. 1990) ("One may waive the right to appeal where he has caused or induced a judgment to be entered or has consented or stipulated to the entry of a judgment.").

Sasson likewise waived the argument that the January 29 Seal Order was a prior restraint on his speech. A seal order, by its very nature, aims to prevent disclosure of the contents of documents. *See State v. Gilmore*, 201 Wis. 2d 820, 833, 549 N.W.2d 401 (1996) ("Documents are presented under seal

precisely so that their secrecy might be preserved and disclosure to the public might be prevented.") Because Sasson actively brought about the conditions that led to sealing the Balelo deposition, he agreed to limit the disclosure of information contained in the deposition transcript. Accordingly, the argument that the seal is an unconstitutional prior restraint has been waived. *In re Ambac Assur. Corp.*, 2012 WI 22 at ¶ 23.

"A party cannot complain about an act to which he or she deliberately consents." *Cascade Mountain, Inc. v. Capitol Indem. Corp.*, 212 Wis. 2d 265, 269, 569 N.W.2d 45 (Ct. App. 1997). Not only did Sasson consent to the application of the seal order to discovery, he took the additional step of designating the Balelo deposition as confidential and requested that the testimony be sealed.<sup>6</sup> Sasson's statements and the action taken by the Circuit Court would leave any observer to conclude that the Balelo transcript was sealed.

-

<sup>6</sup> Sasson's arguments may also be analyzed in the context of an "invited error." The Court of Appeals will not review an error which a party invited. General Star Indem. Co. v. Bankruptcy Estate of Lake Geneva Sugar Shack, Inc. by Waldschmidt, 215 Wis. 2d 104, 131, 572 N.W.2d 881 (Ct. App. 1997); Shawn B.N. v. State, 173 Wis. 2d 343, 372, 497 N.W.2d 141 (Ct. App. 1992); Linden v. Cascade Stone Co., 2004 WI App 184, ¶ 29, 276 Wis. 2d 267, 687 N.W.2d 823 (citing Richards v. Land Star Group, Inc., 224 Wis. 2d 829, 842-43, 593 N.W.2d 103 (1999)) ("If a party makes an express concession, [the Court of Appeals] ha[s] no obligation to review such 'invited error."); Soo Line r. Co. v. Office of Comm'r of Transp., 170 Wis. 2d 543, 557, 489 N.W.2d 672 (Ct. App. 1992).

Absent Sasson's request, the parties would have taken additional steps to protect the contents of the deposition. It is disingenuous for Sasson to argue that the Balelo deposition was not sealed. Sasson has waived that argument by consenting to, and actively causing the court to take the very action he now laments. It was only after this position was no longer advantageous to Sasson—when he realized that sanctions could result from his violations of the seal—that he developed the "arguments" regarding the constitutionality and applicability of the seal orders.

2. Judicial Estoppel Should Preclude Sasson from Asserting Inconsistent Legal Positions Regarding the Constitutionality and Applicability of the Seal Orders.

Sasson should also be judicially estopped from claiming that: (a) the Balelo deposition was not subject to either the January 29 or the Balelo-specific Seal Orders; and (b) the January 29 Seal Order is unconstitutional. These arguments are inconsistent with Sasson's position throughout the case prior to when he knew he would be sanctioned.

Sasson stated that he had "no problem" with the order when it was instituted. (R.240 at 35:1-2; R-App.173) Sasson also previously acknowledged the applicability of the January 29 Seal

Order to discovery and designated Balelo's deposition as "confidential" in accordance with that order. (R.170 at 6; R-App.106) Sasson's previous position directly led to the court's specific order sealing Balelo's deposition. (*Id.*)

The facts at issue have not changed. Yet on appeal, Sasson is now asserting new positions in an attempt to avoid the consequences of his violation of the Circuit Court's orders. This is the epitome of "playing fast and loose" with the court, and judicial estoppel should preclude him from taking inconsistent positions.

#### C. SASSON'S UNSUPPORTED DUE PROCESS ARGUMENTS ARE WAIVED AND ESTOPPED.

Sasson also argues that the court violated his due process by hearing the Agency Defendant's Motion for Protective Order on short notice and by granting the January 29 Seal Order without providing him with an opportunity to be heard. (Sasson Br. at 25-29.) This argument is unsupported, disingenuous, and has been waived.

Sasson was provided with notice of the hearing, as well as an opportunity to be heard. Sasson actively participated in the hearing. (See generally R.240.) Because due process is flexible to fit the demands of a particular situation, Sasson's notice of the hearing and ability to argue his position afforded him all of the

process that was due under the circumstances. See *State v. Hardwick*, 144 Wis. 2d 54, 58, 422 N.W.2d 922 (Ct. App. 1988).

Sasson's also waived his due process argument given his agreement with, and invocation of, the January 29 Seal Order. See, e.g., Wengerd v. Rinehart, 114 Wis. 2d 575, 587, 338 N.W.2d 861 (Ct. App. 1983) ("Due process objections can be waived by subsequent acts.") Sasson was present at the hearing and prefaced his remarks to the court with "I appreciate the Court calling this hearing." (R.240 at 10:25-11:1; R-App.162-163.) Sasson never complained that he had been brought to court on short notice. Sasson was given an opportunity to fully argue his position and at the conclusion of the hearing, Sasson indicated his agreement with the ruling: "I'm following your rules. I don't want anything to get out. I have no problem with the ruling you just made, it's fine." (Id., at 34:24-35:2; R-App.172-173.) By failing to raise any concerns regarding lack of notice, by fully participating in the hearing, by signaling his agreement with the ruling, and then expressly invoking the ruling to seal Balelo's deposition, Sasson waived any due process complaints. Wengerd, 114 Wis. 2d at 587.

Similarly, Sasson's agreement, adherence, and invocation of the January 29 Seal Order contradicts any newly concocted

argument that his due process rights were violated when the court issued this order at the outset. Judicial estoppel should likewise operate to preclude Sasson's inconsistent arguments.

Olson, 2006 WI App 204 at ¶ 4.

### IV. SASSON'S MOTION TO VACATE THE DISMISSAL ORDER IS NOT A BASIS FOR RELIEF.

Sasson's June 27, 2014 Motion to Vacate is not a basis for relief from the Dismissal Order because the motion did not present any new issues and the Circuit Court's denial of that motion was not an erroneous exercise of discretion.

#### A. THE AUGUST 11, 2014 ORDER DENYING SASSON'S MOTION TO VACATE IS NOT AN APPEALABLE ORDER.

"[I]t has frequently been held that an order entered on a motion to modify or vacate a judgment or order is not appealable where, as here, the only issues raised by the motion were disposed of by the original judgment or order." *Ver Hagen v. Gibbons*, 55 Wis. 2d 21, 25, 197 N.W.2d 752 (1972).

The Circuit Court's denial of the June 27, 2014 motion is not an appealable order, as the only issues raised by the motion were those disposed of by the Circuit Court's prior rulings. The Court should decline to review an order entered on a motion to modify or vacate a judgment when such motion does not

present issues other than those determined by the original order. *Gibbons*, 55 Wis. 2d at 25.

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